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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

FOR THE
MIDDLE DISTRICT OF FLORIDA
FORT MYERS DIVISION
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA WAIVER OF INDICTMENT
v, Crirninal No, 2:10-¢r- -Fi-
TROY BOSSERT.

I, Troy Bossert, the above named defendant, who is accused of Conspiracy to
Commit Wire Fraud and Bank Fraud in violation of Titie 18, United States Code, -
Sections 1343, 1344 and 1348 and Money Laundering in violation of Title 18, Uﬁited
States Code, Sections 1957 and 2, being advised of the nature of the charges, the
proposed infbrrrtaﬁon, and of my r‘tghis, hereby waive prosecution by indictment and
cor-}sent that the proceeding may be by Information rather than by indictment. Pursuant

o Fed. R. Crim. P. 7(b), | will confirm this waiver in open court at arraignment or othey

hearing.
Froy Bosser/
Defendant \\ d
Michael Gei%?\l\’ \L e
Counsel for Defendant Z /2@ /
{O
Before

Judicial Officer



UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

MIDDLE DISTRICT OF FLORIDA
FORT MYERS DMVISION
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
v | . CASENO.210-cr-  FiM-
TROY BOSSERT :
PLEA AGREEMENT

Pursuant to Fed. R. Crim. P. 11(c), the United States of America, by A. Brian
Albritton, United S'Vtates Attorney for the Middie District of Florida, and the defendant,
Troy Bossert, and the atiorney for the defendant, Michael Gelety, mutualiy agree as
féitows: --

A, ' Particularized Terms

1. Counts Pleading To
The defendant shall enter a plea of guilly to Count One and Count Six of

the Information. Count One charges the defendant with Conspiracy to Commit Bank
Fraud and Wire Fraud, in violation of 18 U.5.C. §§ 1343, 1344, all in violation of 18
U.5.C. § 1349, and Count Six charges the defendant with Money Laundering in
violation of 18 U.S.C. §§1957,2.

2. Maximum Penalties

Count One carries a maximum sentence of 20 years imprisonment, & fine
of $260,000, a term of supervised release of not more than 3 years, and a special

assessment of $100.

Defendant's Initia@ﬁ_ AF Approval ___ _



{
Count Six carries a maximum sentence of 10 years imprisonment, a fine

of up to $250,000, a period of supervised release of not more than 3 years and a
special ,_ass;es_'smem of $100.

With respect to certain offense, the Couwrt shall order the defendaﬁt o
‘miake restitution to any victim of the offenses as set forth below,

2, Elements of the Offenses

The defendant acknowledges understanding the nature and elements of
the offenses with which deferidant has been charged and to which defendant is

pleading guilty. The'eiemen'is of Count One are.

First: * “That two or more persons, in some way or manner, came {o
a mutual understanding o try to accomplish a commoen and
uplawful plan, as charged in the Information, and

econd. That the Defendant. knowing the unlawful purpose of the
plan, wiillfully joined it.

Wire Fraud - 18 L.5.C. §1343

First: That the Defendant knowingly devised or participated in a
scheme. to defraud, or for abtaining money or property by
means of faise pretenses, representations or promises;

Second: That the faise pretenses, representations or promises
related to a materiaf fact

Third: That the Defendant did so wilifully and with an intent to
, defraud,; and
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Fourth: That the Defendant tfransmitted or caused (¢ be transmiftesd
by wire in interstate commerce some communication for the

purpose of executing the scheme to defraud,
Bank Fraud - 18 U.5.C. § 1344

First: - That the Defendant executed or
' attempted o execute a scheme to oblain money, assets, or
property from a financial instilution by means of false or
- frauduient pretenses, representations, or promises relating
to a material fact, a5 charged in the Information;

Second: That the Defendant did so
witlfully with arr intent to defraud;

Third: That the false or fraudulent pretenses,
representations, or promises were
malerial; and '

Fourth: That the financial institution was

federally insured.

The eiements of Count Six are as follows:

Money Laundering - 1BU.SC § 1957

First: That the Defendant knowingly engaged or attempted fo
engage in a monetary transaction;

Second. That the Defendant knew the transaction involved crimnally
derived property;

Third: That the properly had a vaiue of greater than $10,000:

Fourth: _ That the prope:ity was, in tact, derived from wire fraud; and

Fifth: That the transaction ocourrad in the United States.
4 Indictment Waiver
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Defendant will waive the night 1o be charged by way of indiciment before &

federal grand jury.

5, Ng Further Charges

if the Court accepts this plea agreement, the United States Attorney's
Ofiice for the Middie District of Flonida agrees not to charge defendant with committing
any other federal criminat offenses .known to the United Siates Altorney's Ofiice at the
fime of the éxecution of this agreement, reiated 1o the conduct ining rise o this plea

agreement.

6 Mandatory Restitution o Victim of Offense of Conviction
Pursuantio 18 U S.C.h§§ 3B663A(fa) and (b). defenﬁant agrees to make full
restitution to the lenders that have an ownership interest in the properties described in

the Information.

r Guidelines Sentence

Pursuant to Fed. R. Crim. P 11{S{1)(B), the United States will
recommend io the Court that the defendant be sentenced within the défeﬁdant‘s
applicable guidelines range as determined by the Court pursuant 1o the United States
Sentencing Guidelines, as adjusted by any departure the United States has agreed o
recommend in this plea agreement.  The parties understand that such 2
recommendation is not binding on the Courl and that, if it is not accepied by this Court,
neither the United States nor the defendant will be allowed 1o withdraw from the plea
ag'reemenf, ang the defendant wiil not be allowed (0 withdraw from the plea of gutity.

a8 Acceptance of Responsibility - Three Levels
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At the fime of seniencing, and in the event that no adverse information is
received suggesting such & recommendation to be unwarranted, the United States will
recommend to the Ccuri that the defendant receive a two-level downward adjustment '
for acceptance of responsibiiity, pursuant to USSG §3E1.1{a). The defendant |
understands that this recommendation Or request is not binding on the Courd, and if not

accepted by the Co&rt, the defendant will not be allowed to Wiihdraw'from the plea. '
Further, at the time of sentencing, if the défemjaﬂt‘s offense level prior fo
operation of subsection (a) is ievei' 16 or g'reater, and if the defendant complies with the
prévisions of USSG §3E1.1(b), the Ur}:‘ted'Stafes agrees to move the Court pursuant to
‘US‘;SG: §3E1.1(b) for a downward adj:.&ﬁment of one additional Iéve-f. The defendant
understands that the determination as 1o @hether the defendant has qualified for a
‘dcwnward azsiuslmef’;t of a third level for accepiaﬁce of responsibility rests scieiyf with
the United States Attorney for the Middie District of Florida, and the defendant agraes
that the defendant cannot and will nat challenye that determination, whether by appeal,

coliaterat attack, of otherwise.

5. Low End

At the time of sentencing, and in the avent that no adverse information s
received suggesting such a recommendation {0 be unwarranted, the United States will
not oppose the defendant’'s request to the Court that the defendant receive a sentence
at the jow end of the applicable guideline range, as calculated by the Court. The

defendant understands that this recommendation or request is not hinding on the

th
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Court, and if not accepted by the Court, the defendant will not be aliowed 10 withdraw

from the plea.

10.  Cooperation - Substantial Assistance to be Considered

{)afendant_‘ agrees to cooperate fully with the United States in the
invgsfigation and prosecution.of other ;ﬁersons. and 1o testify, subject {o g prosecution
for perjury or making a false state'meni, fully and truthfully before any federal court
proceeding or federal grand jury inr connection with the charges in this case and other
maitei's, such_ cooperation to further include a full and complete disciosure of all |
feleuani inf?)rma_tion, including production of any and all books, papers, documents,
and other objects in defendant's possession .or controf, and to b_e.reascnably available
for interviews which the United States may require.  If the cooperation is completed
prior to senterking, the government agrees 1o consider whether such cooperation
qualifies as "substantial assistance” in accordance with the poticy of the United States
Attorney for theé Middie District of Florida, warranting the filing of a motion at the time of
sentencing recommending (1) a downward departure from the applicable guideline
range pursuant to USSG §5K1.1, or (2) the imposition of a sentence below a statutory
minimum; if any, pursuant to 18 U.8.C. § 35531e), or {3) both.  If the cpoperation is
completed subsequerﬁ to sentencing, the government agrees 1o consider whether such
cooperation gualifies as “substantiat assistance” in accordance with the-palécy of the
United States Attorney for the Middle District of Florida, warranting the filing of a motion
fora redﬁciion of sentence within one year of the imposition of sentence pursuant o

Fad R. Crim. P. 35{(b). In any case, the defendant understands that the determination

Defendant's Initials 92_’?, &



as to whether “substantial assistance" has beer: provided or what type of motion related
thereto will be filed, if .any; rests soieis}»wizh the United States Attorney for the Middle
District of Floridda, and the defendant agrees that defendant cannot and will not
challenge that determination, whether by appeal, collstaral attack, or otherwise.

11. Use of Information - Section 1B1L.8

Pursuant 1o USSG §1B1.8(a), the United States agrees that no
self-incriminating infbrmatian.rwhich the defendant may provide during the course of
defendant's cooperation and purstiant to this agreement shall be used in determining
the applicabile sentencing guideline range, subject to the restrié_:tions and limitations set
forth in USSG §1B1.8(b}. |

12, Forfeiture of Assels

The dsefendant agrees to forfeit o the United States immediétel)f and
voluntarily any and ail assets and property, or portions thereof, s?abject- to %‘oﬁééture!
pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section 881{a){1}{C) and Title 18, United
States Code, Section 2461(c), whether in the possession or control of the United Siates
or in the possession or conirol of the defendant or defendant's nominees  The
" defendant agrees and con_se-_ms to the forfeiture of assets pursuartt to any federal
criminal, civil, and/or administrative forfeiture action.  The defendant also herehy
agrees that the forfeiture is not excessive and, in any eveni, the defendant waives any |
constitutional claims that the defendant may have that the forfeliure conslitutes an

axcessive fine,

~i
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The defendant admils and agrees that the conduct described in the

Factual Basis below provides a sufficient factual and siatutory basis for the forfeiture of
the property sought by the governmeni | Pursgani to the provisions of Rule 32.2{ b)(ﬂ'.
the United States and the defendant request that at the time of accepting this plea
agreement, the court make a determinabion that the government has established the
reguisite nexué between the property subject to forfeiture and the offenses to whféh
defendant is pleading guilty and enter a preliminary order of forfeiture.  Pursuant o
Rule 32,2(33)_{3}., the defendant agrees that the preliminary order of forfeiture shall be
final as to the defendant al the fime it is entered, notwithstanding the requirement that it
be made a part of the sentence and be inciuded in the judgment.

The defendarnit agrees to forfeit ail interests in the properties and to take
whatever steps are necessary to pass clear title to the United States  These steps
include, but are not limited to, the surrender of title, the signing of a consent decree of
forfeiture, and signing of any other documents necessary (0 effectuate such transfers.

Defendan further agrees to take all steps necessary (0 locate property
and to pasé title to the United States before the defendant's sentencing. To that end,
defendant agrees to fully assist the government in the recovery and return to the United
States of any assefs, or portions thereof, as descrived above wherever located. The
defendant agrees to make a full and complete disclosure of all assets over which
defendant exercises control and those which are heid or controlled by a nominee. The
detendant further agrees o be paiggfaphed on the issue of assets, it if i85 deemed

necessary by the United States.
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i the United States determines that property of the defendant identified
-fas‘ forfeiture cannot be located upon the exercise of due difigence; has been
transferred or sold to, or deposited with, a third party; has been placed bevond the
jurisdiction of the Court; has been substantially diminished in value, or haé been -
commingled with other property which cannot be divided without difficuity; then the
United Stafes shalif atits opiicﬁ, be entitied io,forfe\iiure of any other propérty
_'(substitute assets) of the defendant up to the value of any property described above.
This Court shall retain jurisdiction Vio settie any dispules arising from application of this
clause. The defendant agrees that forfeiture of substitute as;sels as authonzed herein
shall not be deemed an alteration of the defendant's sentence.

Forfeifure of the defendant's assets shall not be treated as satistaction of
sny fine, restitution, cost of imprisonment, or any other penalty this Court may impose

upon the defendant in addition to forfeiture.

B. Standard Terms and Conditions

10. Restilution Special Assessment and Fine

The defendani understands and agrees that the Court, in addition to or in
lieu of any other penaity, shall order the ciefend_a‘nt 1o make restiiution 10 any victum of
the offense(s), pursuantto 18 USC. § SBBSA, for ali offenses described in 1I8U.S.C. §
3863A{cH1) {limited to offenses commii%eld on or after April 24, 1998); and the Court
may order the defendant (o make restitution 1o any victim of the offense(s}, pursuant to

18 4.5.C § 3683 (limiled to tffenses commiited on or after November 1, 1987),
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ciuding restitution as o all counts charged, whether or not the defendant entefrs a
plea of guiity to such counts, and whether or not such counts are dismissed pursuant to
this agreement. On each count {o whicﬁ a plea of guilty is entered, tha Court shall
impose a special assessment, fo be payable to the Clerk's Office, ‘United States District

Court, and due on date of sentencing.  The defendant understands that this agraement

imposas hio imitation as o fine,

11.  Supervised Release

The defendant understands that the offenses to which the defendant is
pteadiﬁg provide for imposition of a téfm of supervised release upof release from -
imprisonment, and that, if the defendant should violate the conditions of reie;—zse, the
defendant would be subject to a further term of imprisanrﬁenf.

12.  Sentencing Information

The United States reserves ifs right and obiigation to report to the Court
- and the United States Probation Office all information concerning the béckgroun{i‘
character, and conduct of the defendant, to provide relevant factual information,
including the totality of the defendant's criminal activities, if any, not limited to the
counts to which defendant pleads, to respond to comments matde by ihe defendant or
defendant's counsel, and 1o correct any misstatements or inaccuracies. The United
States further reserves is right to make any recommendations it deems appropriate

regarding the disposition of this case, subsect o any Iimitations set forth herein, if any.
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Pursuant fo 18 U.S.C. § 3664{d}{3} and Fed. R Crim. P. 32{d}{2}{A){i).
the defendant agrees to complete and submit, upon execution of this plea agreement,
an affidavit reflecting the defendant's financial condition. The éefendsnt further
agrees, and by the execution of this plea agreement, authorizes the United States
Attorney's Dffice to provide to, and obtain from, the United States Probation Office, the
financial éﬁ%davit, any of the-dgfendant’s federal, state, and local fax returns, bank
records and any other financial information concerning the defendant, for the purpose
of making. any ra’wmmendaﬁons to the Court and for collecting any assessments, fines,
restitution, or forfeiture ordered by the Court.

13.  Sentencing Recommendations

It is undersiond by the parties that the Couwrt is neither a party to nor
bound by this agreement.  The Court may accei:t or reject the agre;en}ent, or defer a
decision until it has had an opportunity {o consider the presentence report prepared by
the United States Probation Office.  The defendant understands and acknowledges
that, although the parties are permitiad {0 make recommendations and present
arguments to the Court, the seritence will be determined solely by the Court, with the
assistance of the United States Probation Office. Defendant further understands and
acknowledges that any discussions betwsen defendant or defendant's aftorney and the
attorney or other agents for the government regarding any recommendations by the
government are not binding on the Court and that, shopl:i any reca;ﬁmendaﬁons be
rejected, defendant will not be permitied to withdraw defendant's piea pursuant to this

plea agreement. The government expressly reserves the right to suppori and defend
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any decision that the Court may make with regard to the defendant’s sentence, whether
or riot such decision is consistent with the government's recommendations contained
herein. |

14, Defendart's Waiver of Right to Appeal and

Right to Celiaterally Challenge the Senlence

The defendant agrees that this Court has jurisdiction and authority to
impose any sentence up to the Istatutary maximum and expressly waives the right to
appeal defendant's sentence or to challenge it coliaterally on any ground, including the
ground that the Court erred in determining the applicable guidelines range pursuant to
the United -States, Seniancing Guidelines, except {a) the ground that the sentence

axceeds the defendant's applicable guidelines range as determined by the Court

pursuant to the United States Sentencing Guideéénés; {b} the ground that the sentence
excesds the statutory maximum penalty; or (¢} the ground that the sentence violates
the Eighth Amendment to the Constitution; provided, however, that if the government
exercises its right to appeal the sentence imposed, as authorized by 18U.5.C. §
3742(1), then the defendant is released from his waiver and may appeal the sentence
as authorized by 18 U.8.C. § 3742(a).

15, Middle District of Florida Agreement

it is further understood that this agreement is limited to the Dffice of the
United States Atlorney for the Middie District of Florida and canniot bind other federal,
state, or iocal prosecuting authorities. although this office will bring defendant's

cooperation, if any, to the attention of other prosacuting officers or others, if requésted,
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16.  Filing of Agreemant

This agreement shall be presented to the Court, in open court or i
camera, inwhole br-in part, upor g showing of good cause, and filed in this cause, at
the time of defendant's entry of a plea of guilty pursuant hereto.

17.  Volunfariness

The defendant acknowledges that defendani is entering into this
agreement and is pleading guilty freely and voluntarily without s‘e_i‘sance Lpon any
diséussions between the attormey for the government and the defendant and
defendant's attorney and without promise of benefit of any kind {other than the
concessions contained herein), and without threats, force, intimidation, or coercion of
any kind. The defendant further acknow!edge§ defendand’s understanding of the
nature of the offense or offenses to which defendant is plsading guilty and the elements
the:;eof, inchuding the penalties provided by law, and defendant's complete satisfaction
with the representation and advice recaived from defendant's undersigned counsel {if
any}). The defendant also understands that defendant has the right to plead not guilty

" or to persist in that plea if it has already been made, and that defendant has the right to
'be tried by a jury with the assistance of counsal, the right to contront and
cross-examing the witnesses against defendant, the right against compulsaory
self-incrimination, and the right 1o compulsory process for the attendance of withesses
to testify in defendant's defense; bu, by pleading guilty, defendant waives or gives up
those rights and there will be no trial. The defer}dant further understands that i

defendant pleads guilty, the Cowrt may ask defendant questions about the offense or
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offenses to which defendant pleaded, and if defendant answers those guestions under
ocath, on the record, and in the presence of counset (if any), defendant’s answers may
later be used against defendant in a prosecution for perjury or false staiement.' Thé
dafendant also understands that defendant will be adjudicated guilty of the offenses to
which defendant has pleaded and, if any of such offenses are felontes. may thereby be
deprived of certain rights, such as the right to vote, to hold public office, 1o serve on a
juty, or to have possession of firearms. |

18. Factusl Basis

Defendant is pleading guilty because defendant is in fact guilty. The

defendant certifies that defendant does hereby admit that the facts set forth below are
true, and were this case o go 1o trial, the United States would be able to prove those
specific facts and others beyond a reasonable doubt:

FACTS

in early 2008, the Internal Revenue Service Criminal Investigation (hereinafter
“IRS"}, United States Secret Service, and the Federal Bureau of Investigation
{hereinafter *FBI), initiated an investigation into a mortgage fraud conspiracy that was
operating in Cape Coral, Florida, between 2007 and 2008. The mvestigation targeted
morigage brokers, closing agents, attorneys, police officers, and others.  TROY
BOSSERT, TYLER FORREY, STEPHEN PETROVICH, RYAN O'BRIEN, and STEVEN
REESE were the main targets of the investigation.

The investigation centered on transactions referred {0 as “cash-out deals” in

which the individuals fraudulently obtained funds from real estate transactions by
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falsifying lpan applications and Housing and Urban Development (hereinafter "HUD")
settlement statements.  Members of the conspiracy directed the closing agent to wire
funds to limited liability corporations in the conirol of the coconspirators.
Some members of the conspiracy identified homes for sale by owner and

‘personally approached the home owners, informing the sellers that they were morigage
brokers and that they had identified béyefs that were willing to pay asking price for the
selier's residential property. At this time, the housing markel in Fort Myers,; Florida,
was steadily declining and the sellers were desperate to sell their properties. Some
seliers were told that the buyers would like to obtain additional funds from the bank to
utilize for repairs or improvements on the home to be purchased. 1t was explained to
the seliers that these additipnal funds reguired an increased sales price and a payment
to LLCs to hold the funds for the future improvements.  Other sellers signed offon a
HUD settlemerit slalement reflecting the agreed upon sales price.  After closing,
members of the conspiracy switched the HUD seftlement statement signed by the
sellers with a fraudulent HUD setilement siatement reflecting an inflated sales price.

The loan application was falsified for buyers who were unabie to afford the

hiomes purchased at the increased sales prices. Ih addition, some coconspirators
created fictifious cashier's checks, banks slatements, Forms W-2, and other documents
which were, in turn, submitted 10 the lender as part of the loan application. The
fraudulent oan application was submitied to the financial institution for the appropriate
personnel 1o rely on whern making the decision on whether or whether not {o fund the
loan. The HUD settlement statements were manipulatsd by some members of the
congpiracy to show fraudulent loan payoff amounts payable to LLCs typically in excess
of $100.000. The LLCs, created by members of the conspiracy, were used {0 receive
the fraudulent funds from the lender.  Once the funds were received from closing and
dishursed to the LLCs, the funds were divided among various members of the

conspiracy. None of the money was used for home repairs or improvements. It fact,
the majority of the buyers never intended to keep the house.  Once the buyers
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received "cash-out” payments from the real estaté purchase transaction, most of the
buyers made approximately three mortgage payments on the purchased home and then
stopped making payments and would le! the home foreclose.

A. Scheme perpetrated through New Cape Holdings and Douglas
Hoidings

Tyler FORREY and Steven REESE fofmeé Frankiin, Morgan, and Chase, Inc., a
Brokerage firm, on May 18, 2005. FORREY and REESE invested in real estate.
flipping investment properties, and brokering loans through Franklin, Morgan, and
Chase. In addition, Tyler FORREY and Steven REESE were 50% members of New
Cape Holdings, LLC, established on December 2, 2004. Tyler FORREY was also the
President of Douglas Holdings and Investments, Inc. which was established on April
256, 2004

The first "cash-out deal” that FORREY and REESE orchestrated involved
property located at 55809 Del Rio Court, Fort Myers, Florida, PETROVICH, a Cape
Coral police officer, approached REESE because he was in need of money. FORREY
and REESE structured the cash-out deal. A mortgage broker with Frankiin, Morgan, &
Chase brought the selier {o the tabie. The seller agreed 1o sefl his home for an
inflated sales price of $725,000. fhe selier was informed that the buyer needed the
extra money to renovate and remodel the home.

The loan application for the PETROVICH deal was fraudulent, containing an
infiatési menthly income and a {ake deposit.  BOSSERT altered loan documents (o
further the obtaining of the fraudulent lean, while FORREY altered a cashier's check to

show a deposit from PETROVICH 0 the seljer. FORREY obtained a fake verification
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of employment and the fraudulent cashier's check lo submit to the lender.  The loan
application was subniitted to indyi‘x&ac Bark, FSB, an FDIC insured entify, for $851,500.
Lee Title Servicés was the tifle agency. IndyMac wired $651,500 to Lee Title
Services on the dosing date of May 17, 2007, via the Federal Reserve Bank operations
center in Newark, New Jersey. The sefler directed a wire transfer of $102,060 to New
Cape Holdings. Tyie{ FDRREY transferred $62,000 from the New Cape Holdings
account to his personal aéc‘aunt FORREY later transferred $37,000 from his ;Sersanai
account to Siephen PETROVICH's personal savings account.  PETROVICH received
a cashier's check in the amount of $20,000 frém the New Cape Holdings account.
PETROVICH made a few payments and then walked on the home. The house went into
foreclosure and PETROVICH filed for banlguptey shortly thereafter.  PETROVICH
used the money that he pulied from the Del Rio deai. to pay back loans, pay his legal
fees, and other expenditures.

The second fransaction involved propeity located at 5223 Stratford Court, Cape
Coral, Florida, Stephen PETROVICH brought the buyer to Tyler FORREY and
Stephen REESE. FORREY and REESE drove around looking for homes for sale by
owner and found a seller.  They introduced themselves as real estate brokers from
Frankiin, Morgan, and Chase, and informed the seller that they had a buyer willing to
purchase his home. The seller had three prdperties for sale and he showed FORREY
and REESE all three properties.  FORREY told the seller that they wouid like to sell
- his homes for an inflated sales price because the buyers infended on using some of the

wxira funds to pay far improvements 1o the home that would be made after the
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purchase. The owner agreed to seli 5223 Stratford Court for an inflated sales price of
$625,000. The loan application was fraudulent, displaying an inflated meonthly income,
an infiated balance in the checking account, and inflated rental income.  The
fraudurlent loan application induced the lender, JP Morgan Chase, an FDIC insured
entity, fo give the buyer a loan in the amount of $583,750.  The loan amount. was wired
to Oxford Title on thé closing date, September 4, 2007, via the Federal Réserve- Bank
operations center in Newark, New Jersey. Subsequently, Chdord Title wired $105,000
to Noah Enterprises (PETROVICH) and wired $34,248.537 ic; New Cape Holdings, LLC
(FORREY and REE SE}. These amounts were shown on the HUD statement as pay-offs
for existing liabilities.  Steven REESE withdrew §$17,500 in cash, approximately haif of
the proéeéds, on September 6, 20(‘}?. Tyier FORREY transferred $11,213 from the New
Cape Holdings account to Sriephen PETRDV%CH'S personal account. The buyer
received in excess of $60,000 via cashier's checks from Noah Enterprises.  The buyer
made three morigage paymenis on the property and then walked. The house went
into foreclosure.

The next transaction involved property located at 130 SW 49th Streel, Cape
Coral, Florida. A morigage broker with Frankiin Morgan, and Chase, brought the
buyer to the table. FORREY and REESE told the selier thal the sales price of the
home needed {o be inflated so the buyer could make improvements to the home.
- Specifically, he was told that _ihe buyer was going to put in & third bedroom and a pool.
The owner agreed to sell the house for an inflated sales price of $385,000. The loan

application was fraudulent, including false employment, inflated monih%y mcome, and
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an inflated checking account balance. The fraudulent foan application induced the
lender, Bank United, an FDIC insured entity, to give the buyer a loan in the amount of
$385,000. The loan amouni was wired to Oxford Title on the closing date of December
18, 2007, via the Federal Reserve Bank operations center‘ in Newark, Néw Jersey.
Similar to the other LLC deals, money was given to New Cape Holdings via a-check for
the amount of $97,543.16. This amount was shown on the HUD statement as &
rbayeoff for -existing liabilities. The buyer walked from the house ang the house went into
foreclosure shortly thereafiar.

The fourth transaction was 5341 Cobait Court, Cape Coral, Florida, FORREY
and REESE found the buyer and a morigage broker for Franklin Morgan and Chase
broughi the sefler to the table. The sales price was inflated on the HUD settlement
statement to $725,000. The loan appiication was fraudulert, including inflated monthly
income and false deposit.  The fraudulent lcan application induced the lender,
Southpointe Financial Services, a correspondent lender for CitiMortgage, an FBIC
insured entity under CitiGroup, Inc.. 10 give the buyer a loan in the amount of $616,250.

Southpointe Financial Services wired the lean amount fo Oxford Title on the closing
date, Fabmary 29, 2008, via the Federal Resarve Bank operations center in Newark,
New Jersey. Similar 1o the other LLC deals. money was given to Douglas Holdings,
LLC (FORREY) via a theck for the amount of $166,700. Tyler FORREY cuta
cashier's check for $117,200 to the buyer. The buyer walked and attempted to short
sell the house.  The house went into foreciosure shortly thereafter.

B. Scheme perpetrated through Noah Enterprises and Four Forty Two
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Holdings

Stephen PETROVICH and Ryan O'BRIEN were 50% members df Four Forty
Two Holdings. Stephen PETROVICH was a co-meiriber of Noah énterprises, along
with his wife: As referenced above, 1 E)S;G(_}D of the 5223 Stratford Court deal was
laundered through Noah Enterprises.  In addition, PETROVICH and O'BRIEN directed
‘several cash-out deals. |

By 2008, the real estate market in the Fort Myers area had coliapsed and the

members of the conspiracy realized that it would be difficult to convince sellers to sell
their homes at the inflated prices. Members of the conspiracy decided 1o cut the
sellers out-of the transaction and substitute the HUD settlernent statement for a
fraudulent HUD setilement statemeni with an increased purchase price.  The sale of
2649 SW 26th Avenue, Cape Coral, Florida, was the first deal with a double. HUD
settlement statement. |

In March 2008, Ryan O'BRIEN needed money and wanted {o buy a home
pursuant to the cash-out deal scheme.  O'BRIEN contacted the owners of 2649 SW
29th Avenue, Cape Coral, Fiorida, after viewing their “for sale by owner" sign and told
them that he would like to buy their home for the listed purchase price.  On January
30, 2008, Troy BOSSERT and O'BRIEN came over to the seller's home and submitted
a sales contract for $355,000. Oxford Title contacted the sellers with a closing date
and the transaction closed on March 7, 2008, The sellers signed the HUD seitlement

statement and all necessary documentation for a sales price of $355,000. After the
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closing, members of the conspiracy submitted a second fraudulent HUD seftlement
statemient with a sales price of $725,000.

The loan application was based upon the inflated sales price of 8725000, The
oan éppiicatisn contained other fraudulent representations, such as inaccurate
designation-as primary residence. inflated monthly income, and false deposit. The
fraudutent loan application induced the lender, Southpointe Financial Services, a
correspondent lender for CitiMortgage, Inc., an FDIC insured enﬁty under CitiGroup,
Inc., to give O'Brien a loan in the amount of $580,0400. Southpointe Financial-Services
wired the loan amount to Oxford Title on the closing date, March 7, 2008, via the
Federal Reserve Bank operations center in Newark, New Jersey. That same day,
money was wired to Four Forty Two Holdings, LLC, in the amount of $178,480.60. This
amount was listed on the HUD settlement statement as a pay-off for an existing liability.

PETROVICH and O'BRIEN split the $178,480.60.  Four Forly Two Holdings
purchased a cashier's check payable 1o Ryan O'BRIEN in the amount of $38,20C. The
defendants siowly withdrew the rest of the money via cash check withdrawals in
amounts less than $10.000. O'BRIEN made a few payments on the home, but then
attempted o short sell the house.  The house is currently in foreclosure.

The next transaction was for property located at 1414 NE 14th Avenue, Cape
Coral, Florida. PETROVICH and ('BRIEN directed the cash-out deal.  The sellers
were informed that the purchase price of the home was going fo be irzﬁéted S0 that the
buyers could pay off aloan  The homeowner ags'eea to seil his home for an infiated

sales price of $260,000. The ioan application was fraudulent, including an inaccurate
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designation of primary residence and an inflated 'monthty income. The fraudulent ldan
application induced the lender, Florida Capital Mortgage Bank, an FDIL insured entity.
to give the buyer a loan in the amount of $261 000, The loan amount was wired to
DOxford Title on the closing date, July 10, 2008, via the Federal Reserve Bank
opérations center in Newark, New Jersey. Oxford Title wired $115,133.81 to Four
Forty Two Haldin’gé‘ LLC (PETROVICH and O'BRIEN). Ryan O'BRIEN endorsed
chacks to the buyer of the home in the amount of $45,000 and to Tyler FORREY in the
amount of $15,000. PETROVICH and O'BRIEN spiit the balance.

C. Scheme perpetrated through Statewide Investments and AC} Holdings

Helios Financial Center, inc., doing business as Statewide Investments and
R-ea!ty; was an entity under the controj of Troy BOSSERT. BOESERT was a signatory
for the bank accounts of ACI Holdings.

BOSSERT orchestrated a cash-out deal with the assistance of a real estate
company who arranged the seller to agree to the cash out, for 4823 SW 8" Court, Cape
Coral, Florida. The homeowner agreed to sell the home for an infiated sales price of
$763,000. The loan application was fraudulent, ncluding a fake deposit.  The
frauduient ioan induced the lender, Lehman Brothers Bank, FSD, an FDIC insured
entity, to give Bossert a joan in the amount of $724,850. The lcan amount was wired
to Lee Title Services, Inc., on the closing date, May 4, 2007, via the Federal Reserve
Bank operations center in Newark, New Jersey.  Lee Title wired $179.91 545 to ACI
Hoidings LLC and $41,438.94 10 Troy BOSSERT's personat account.  BOSSERT

endorsed.a check made pavable to SunCoast Schools FCU in the amount of
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$17,833.03 to pay off his credit card debt. He also paid $88,638.41 to the U5,
Treasury to pay prior tax liabilities. BOSSERT made three morigage paymenis and
the home went into foreclosure. |

The next transaction also involved a fraudulent second HUD settlement .
statemment. In 2008, FORREY orchestrated a cash-out deal for a friend.  FORREY and
BOSSERT found a house that was for sale by owner iccated at 4311 Pelican
Boulevard, Cape Coral, Florida. The sellers signed a HUD setilement statement for a
purchase price of $248,000, negotiated by FORREY. After closing, FORREY switched
out the HUD settlement statement for a fraudulent HUD setltlement staterment with a
purchaée price of $620,000. The loan application was based on the fraudulent sales
price of $520,000. The loan application ai’sc included fraudulent representations,
including false employment, inflated monthly incoma, misreprgsented primary
residence, and false depesit. The fraudulent loan application induced the lender,
Florida Capital Mortgage Bank, an FDIC insured entity, to give the buyer a loan in the
amount of $418,000. The loan amount was wired to Oxfordr Titie on the closing dale,
June 18, 2008, via the Federa) Reserve Bank operations center in Newark, New
Jersey. Oxford Title wired $153,725.34 to Statewide Investr.ants (BOSSERT).
BOSSERT withdrew $28 500, BOSSERT purchased a cashier's check made payable
to the buyer and distributed $2B,500 fo Tyler FORREY. The ssllers did not learn
about the inflated sales price untd their acéauntant called a few months later.

The conspiracy resulted in approximately $4,. 228,350 00 in fraudulent loan

amounts.
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18 Entire Agresment

This plea agresment constitutes the entire agreement between the
government and the defendant with respect to the aforementioned guilty plea and no
other-promises, agreements, or representations exist or have been made to the

defendant or defendant's attorney with regard to such guilty plea.

20. Certification
The defendant and defendant's counsel certify that this plea agreement
has been read in its entirety by (or has been read {0} the defendant and that defendant

fully understands its terms.

Zh |
DATED this _ 7 _ dayof &,&Fw&r% 2010,
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A, BRIAN ALBRITTON

United Siates Atlorney
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Troy Bossert Nicole H. Waid :
Defendant Assistant United States Attornsy
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Michael Gelsty\_ Dbuglas Molloy |
Attorney for Defendant Assistant United States Attorney
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